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Mio~er v. NEW EDINBI{RG Scroor DisTrICT.
4-8128 . 200 S."W. 2d 319
Opinion delivered March 24, 1947,

1. DEEDS—REVERSION.—Where H deeded 2% acres of land to the
predecessor of appellee district providing that when the property
ceased to be used for public school purposes, the land, but not the
building to be erected by the School District, should revert to the

1In the Pryor case, Mr. Justice Wood, who wrote the Court’s
opinion, said: “Divorces are not granted upon the uncorroborated
testimony of the parties and their admissions of the truth of the
matters alleged as grounds thereof”. Citations were Sisk v. Sisk, 99
Ark. 94 136 S. W. 987; Rie v. Rie, 34 Ark. 37; Kurtz v. Kurtz, 88
Ark. 119; Brown v. Brown, 38 Ark. 324; Scarborough v. Scarborough,
54 Ark. 20, 14 S. W. 1098; Kientz v. Kientz, 104 Ark. 381, 149 S. W.
86; Shelton v. Shelton, 102 Ark. 54, 143 S. W. 110; Johnson v. John-
son, 122 Ark. 276, 182 S. W. 897, .
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grantor and the tract of land of which 2% acres was a part
passed into the hands of appellant with a similar provision in
the deed, the land, but not the school building erected thereon,
reverted, on the District’s ceasing to use the land for school
purposes, to appellant. )

2. FixTures.—The effect of a deed providing that if the land con-
veyed ever ceases to be used for school purposes the land, but
not the building to be erected thereon by the grantee shall revert
to the grantor is to prevent the building when erected from
becoming part of the realty.

3. FixTures.—The rule that a building permanently fixed to the
freehold becomes part of the realty has no application where
the building is erected with the understanding that it shall remain
personal property.

4. FI1xTURES.—The building which was erected by the School District
" having been excepted from the reverter clause in the conveyance
of the land to the district did not become part of the realty.

5. ESToPPEL.—Where appellant acquired the tract of which 2%
acres deeded to the school district was part without any con-
versation with the grantee or its representatives, there can be -
no estoppel of the district to claim title to the building.

6. CosTs.—Since appellant instituted the action to recover the build-
ing and has failed to accomplish her purpose, she will be
charged with the costs of all courts.

Appeal from Cleveland Chancery Court; Harry T.
Wooldridge, Chancellqr; affirmed in part and reversed in
part. '

DuVal L. Purkins, for appellant.
Max M. Smith, for appellee.

Ep. F. McFappin, Justice. This appeal presents for
determination: (1) whether land previously deeded to a
school district had reverted; and (2) whether the building
reverted with the land. Some of our cases on reversion
of school property are: Steele v. Rural Special School
District, 180 Ark. 36, 20 S. W. 2d 316; McCullough v.
Swifton Consolidated School District, 202 Ark. 1074, 155
S. W. 2d 353; Williams v. Kirby School District, 207 Ark.
458, 181 S. W. 2d 488; Rose v. Marshall School District,
210 Ark. 211, 195 S. W. 2d 49; Vandale Special School
District v. Feltner, 210 Ark. 743,197 S. W. 2d 731.
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The factual situation in the case at bar is somewhat
different from that existing in any of the adjudicated
cases. The facts here are:

A. 1In 1915, Mr. J. H. Hollis conveyed by warranty
deed 214 acres of land to the Hollis Special School Dis-
trict, with this clause of reversion in the deed: ‘This deed
‘is made with the understanding that in case the property-
ever ceases to be used for public school purposes that the
land, but not the improvements thereon, is to revert to the

grantor herein.”’

B. The Hollis Special School District erected a
school building on the 214 acres, and used the same for
- school purposes. In 1930, the Hollis Special School Dis-
trict was consolidated with the appellee school district
(which is hereinafter called the ‘“district’’) ; but the con-
solidated district continued to have school for the lower
grades in the Hollis school building until May, 1940.
Since then, there has been no school in the Hollis building.
In 1940, the district canceled the fire insurance on the
building, and allowed the building to be used as a meeting
place for the ladies of the Hollis community. The only
school property remaining in the building was a stove,
some blackboards, and a few desks; and all of this prop- °
erty was moved on April 26, 1946, when the district sold
the building to J. L. Brown, who was to raze it, and re-
move the materials. Brown agreed to pay the district
$1,500 for the materials. ‘

C. WhenJ. H. Hollis executed the deed to the Hollis
School District in 1915 as aforesaid, he owned a total of
240 acres, of which the 214 acres was a part. After the
death of J. H. Hollis, his heirs conveyed to N. T. Hollis
the entire 240 acres by deed dated August 16, 1944. Then,
on October 2, 1944, N. T. Hollis conveyed to the appellant,
- Mrs. Milner, the 23714 acres by deed, which also contained
. this language in the granting clause: ¢‘Also, the rever-
sion of the J. H. Hollis estate in and to the following
parcel of-land (but not the buildings thereon) described
as follows: . . .”” (then follows the description of
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the 214 acres conveyed by J. H. Hollis to the Hollis Spe-
cial School District in 1915, as aforesaid.) :

Mrs. Milner had the 214 acres placed on the tax books,
and paid taxes thereon. She cut pulpwood timber from
the 214 acres, and exercised other acts of ownership over
the land (but not the building) from the date of her deed
until the filing of this suit. The school district tried to
purchase from Mrs. Milner one acre (where the building
was located) out of the 214-acre tract. One of the school
directors testified in this regard: ‘‘Q. Did you, after she
had bought it, ask her if she would consider selling one
acre of the land back to the school district? A. Yes, sir.
Q. You had that conversation? A. Yes, sir. Q. At that
time you evidently didn’t think you owned the land or the
building either, did you? A.I didn’t know about the land..
I thought she had the land, but there never was any doubt
about the building. Q. Why did you want to buy an acre
back? A. So we wouldn’t have to move the building.”’

D. Such was the condition of affairs when, on April
26, 1946, the school district sold the building to J. L.
Brown as aforesaid. Then, on April 30, 1946, the appel-
lant filed the present action against the appellee school
district and J. L. Brown to enjoin the removal of the
building : appellant claiming the building to be attached
to the real estate, and therefore belonging to her under
her deed from N. T. Hollis as aforesaid. Pending the
litigation, the parties agreed, by stipulation to avoid prej-.
udice, that the $1,500 might be deposited in court in lieu
of the building, and that Brown might (and did) remove
the building. As a result of the trial, the chancery court
entered a decree holding (1) that the school district was
the owner of the building, and (2) that the school district
was the owner of the 214 acres, and that it had not re-
verted to Mrs. Milner.. To reverse that decree, there is
this appeal. ’

I. The Building. We affirm the decree of the chan-
cery court in finding against Mrs. Milner’s claim to the
building or the proceeds thereof. In the deed from J. H.
Hollis to Hollis Special School District (predecessor of
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appellee school district) it was definitely stated that the
1mprovements would not revert with the land. Likewise,
in the deed from N. T. Hollis to Mrs. Milner, it was stated
that the building would not revert to Mrs. Milner. The
effect of these conveyances was to prevent the building
from becoming, or passing as, a part of the realty.. The
pr esumption of a structure becommg realty (as was held
in Waldo Fertilizer Works v. Dickens, 206 Ark. 747, 177
S. W. 2d 398) was overcome by the recitals in the said
deeds in this case. In 22 Am. Juris. 780 the general rule
is stated: ‘‘Generally a building erected on the land of
another by his consent or license does not become part of
the realty, but remains the property of the person annex-
ing it. The same results will be achieved if the owner
expressly consents or agrees that the building shall re-

main personalty; . . . This rule certainly holds when
there is an express reservation of a right to remove the
building; . . .’ See, also, 42 Am. Juris. 199, ‘‘Prop-
erty,’” § 18. )

We dispose of appellant’s contentions:

(a) Building as a fz'a;ture Appellant cites the ma-
jority and concurring opinions in Williams v. Kirby Dis-
trict, supra, wherein were cited statements from 42 Am.
Juris. 199 and 22 R. C. L. 59, to the effect that a building
permanently fixed to the freehold became a part of the
realty, and passed with it. But appellant ev1dently over-
looked that portion of the text in 42 Am. Juris. 199 which,
after stating the above rule, adds this significant lan-
guage, which is applicable to the case at bar, to-wit: ‘‘The
general rule is otherwise, however, where the improve-
ment is made with the consent of the landowner, and pur-
suant to an understandmg, either expressed or implied,
that it shall remain personal property.’’

Likewise, appellant evidently overlooked, from 22 R.

C. L. 59, the following portion of ‘the text, which, after
stating the general rule urged by the appellant, then
states the following as an exception: ‘“. . . but it is

" otherwise as to a building . . . erected with the con-
sent of the landowner and with the understanding either
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expressed or implied that it shall remain personal prop-
erty.”” The building in the case at bar comes within the
scope of the quotation just recited. It was excepted from
the Hollis conveyances, and did not become a part of the
realty. The language in the reverter clause in this, case
specifically excepts the building from reverting with the
land. Such language did not appear in the reverter clause
“in the case of Williams v. Kirby District, supra. '

(b) Limitations. Mrs. Milner’s deed was dated Oc-
tober 2, 1944; and on April 26, 1946, the district sold the
building to Brown. We are cited to no statute of limita-
tions that could have ripened Mrs. Milner’s possession
into title in that short period, even assuming that she had
possession of the building during all of such time—
which the proof shows she did not.

(¢) Estoppel. It was not until after Mrs. Milner
had purchased the Hollis land that she ever had any con-
versation with any representative of the school district,
so she presents no facts to make a claim of estoppel by
representation.. See Rogers v. Galloway Female College,
64 Ark. 627,44 S. W. 454, 39 L. R. A. 636; and also 19 Am.
Juris. 653. In view of What has been stated it is unneces-
sary for us to consider the district’s claim as to whether
Mrs. Milner is herself estopped by the recitals in her deed
from claiming the building. In this connection, see 19
Am. Juris. 627, ‘“‘Estoppel,”” § 29; 16 Am. Jums 610,
““Deeds,”” § 301 and annotation in 39 A. L. R. 128. We
therefore afflrm the chancery court in refusing Mrs. Mil-
ner’s claim for the building or its proceeds.

II. The Land. We reverse that portion of the de-
cree of the chancery court which found against Mrs. Mil-
ner’s claim for the 214 acres of land, because we hold that
there had been an abandonment of the land for school
purposes within the purview of the reverter clause, as
contained in the deed from J. H. Hollis to the school dn
triet. The following facts appear in this case:

(1) No school had been held on this land since 1940. _

(2) The building had ceased to be used for school
purposes, and had become a community center.

-
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(3) - The land had been placed on the tax books in
the name of Mrs. Milner, and she had paid the taxes.

(4) A representative of the school district had at-
tempted to buy one acre of land from her (being the acre
on which the building was situated). -

(5) TFinally, the district had contracted for the re-
moval of the school building; and the directors testified
that they had no intention of ever erecting another class-
room building on the land.

The concurrence of all five of these unexplained facts
presents a case in which the preponderance of the evi-
dence shows an abandonment of the land. It is true that
the -directors testified that they intended that a small
building should be erected on the land for children to use
while waiting for the school bus; but the transcript does
not disclose a single instance where school children had
used the building as a waiting station in the entire period
between 1940 and 1946. On the contrary, the record shows
that the school children congregated on the porch of a
building across the road from the school. Furthermore,
the declaration as to future intentions to erect a bus sta-
tion on the land was also dependent on several contingen-
cies, and was never removed from the realm of abstract
speculation. Without lengthening this opinion by com-
menting on each bit of evidence, it is sufficient to say that
the facts in this case are more similar to those which
existed in the case of Steele v. Rural District, supra, than
to the facts which existed in the cases of McCullough v.
Swifton District, supra, and Rose v. Marshall District,
supra. ' ‘

We conclude that the decree of the.chancery court
should be, and is, affirmed insofar as the building and its
proceeds were awarded to the school district; but the
decree is reversed insofar as concerns the 214 acres of
land, and that part of the cause is remanded to the chan-
cery court with directions to enter a decree adjudging to
Mrs. Milner the 214 acres of land and the possession
thereof. Since Mrs. Milner instituted this suit primarily



344 [211

to recover the building, and has never succeeded in that

regard, we therefore adjudge the cost of all courts against
her.



